
 
  

CITY OF LAWNDALE 
14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California 90260 

Phone (310) 973-3200 – www.lawndalecity.org 
 

AGENDA 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

Monday, August 3, 2020 - 6:30 p.m. 
Lawndale City Hall Council Chamber 

14717 Burin Avenue 
 

* COVID-19 NOTICE * 
Consistent with Executive Orders from the Executive Department of the State of California and 
the Los Angeles County Health Official’s “Safer at Home” Order, this City Council meeting will 
not be physically open to the public as City Councilmembers will be teleconferencing into the 
meeting via Webex Communications. 
 
How to observe the Meeting:  
To maximize public safety while still maintaining transparency and public access, members of the public 
can observe the meeting on YouTube “Lawndale CityTV”, the City Website, or Lawndale Community 
Cable Television on Spectrum & Frontier Channel 3. 
 
How to submit Public Comment:  
Members of the public may provide public comment by sending comments to the Clerk by email at 
cityclerk@lawndalecity.org.  Please submit your written comments as early as possible, preferably prior 
to the start of the meeting or if you are unable to email, please call the City Clerk's Office at (310) 973-
3213 by 5:30 p.m. on the date of the meeting. Email comments must identify the Agenda Item Number 
in the subject line of the email.  The public comment period will close once the public comment time for 
the agenda item has concluded. The comments will be entered into the record and provided to the 
Council. All comments should be a maximum of 500 words, which corresponds to approximately 3 
minutes of speaking time.  Please see the Temporary eComment Policy for Public Meetings. 
 
Copies of this Agenda packet may be obtained prior to the meeting outside of the Lawndale City Hall foyer 
or on the City Website.  Interested parties may contact the City Clerk Department at (310) 973-3213 for 
clarification regarding individual agenda items. 
 

This Agenda is subject to revision up to 72 hours before the meeting. 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

B. CEREMONIALS (Flag Salute and Inspiration) 
 

C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT 
 
D. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (Public Comments) 

 
E. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL 

 
F. CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCfzabQru02YprD2xs5FC2Ow
http://192.168.10.14/CablecastPublicSite/watch/1?channel=3
mailto:cityclerk@lawndalecity.org
http://www.lawndalecity.org/ASSETS/PDF/Corona/City%20of%20Lawndale%20-%20eComment%20Policy.pdf
http://www.lawndalecity.org/HTML/DEPTHTML/CCLERK/CCAgendasMinutes.htm


Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
August 3, 2020 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Items 1 through 4, will be considered and acted upon under one motion unless a City Councilmember 
removes individual items for further City Council consideration or explanation. 

 
1. Motion to read by title only and waive further reading of all ordinances listed on the  

Agenda 
Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 

 
2. Transfer Agreement between the Los Angeles County Flood Control District and  

the City of Lawndale, Agreement No. 2020MP44 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) approve the Transfer Agreement, Agreement 
No. 2020MP44, and (b) authorize the City Manager to execute said agreement. 

 
3. Accounts Payable Register 

Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2008-042, authorizing 
the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of $210,295.99. 

 
4. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting – July 20, 2020 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 
 

G. ADMINISTRATION 
 
5. League of California Cities Annual Conference 

Recommendation: that the City Council (a) select a delegate and an alternate to represent 
the city at the League of California Cities Annual Conference and (b) direct the Director 
of Finance to transfer funds from the applicable City Council discretionary fund(s) into 
travel expense accounts to cover the conference costs.  

 
6. Ordinance to make all violations of the Lawndale Municipal Code subject to  

Administrative Citation 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) approve the first reading to introduce 
Ordinance 1174-20 to add a new chapter, chapter 1.11, to the Lawndale Municipal Code 
which will make all violations of the Municipal Code subject to administrative citation, 
(b) with direction given on how interest (not to exceed 100% of the original fine) should 
be handled: 
 

(i) do not charge penalties for late payments, 
(ii) charge a flat late fee, or as presented in the ordinance, or 
(iii) charge a late fee that is a percentage of the total fine plus any assessed 

penalties. 
 

H. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 
 

I. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 
 

7. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 
 
 
 



Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
August 3, 2020 
Page 3 
 
 

 

J. CLOSED SESSION  
 
8. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation 

The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 
54956.9(d)(4), because the City is considering whether to initiate litigation in one case 
against Best Western Plus South Bay Hotel, Baymont Inn, and the County of Los 
Angeles. 

 
9. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation 

The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 
54956.9(d)(4), because the City is considering whether to initiate litigation in one case. 

 
K. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The next regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council will be held at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, 
August 17, 2020 in the Lawndale City Hall council chamber, 14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, 
California. 

 
It is the intention of the City of Lawndale to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) in 
all respects.  If, as an attendee or a participant at this meeting, you will need special assistance beyond 
what is normally provided, we will attempt to accommodate you in every reasonable manner.  Please 
contact the City Clerk Department (310) 973-3213 prior to the meeting to inform us of your particular 
needs and to determine if accommodation is feasible.  Please advise us at that time if you will need 
accommodations to attend or participate in meetings on a regular basis. 
 

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the Agenda 
for the regular meeting of the City Council to be held on August 3, 2020 was posted not less than 
72 hours prior to the meeting. 

 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Matthew Ceballos, Assistant City Clerk 



DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

BACKGROUND 

CITY OF LAWNDALE 

14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260 
PHONE (310) 973-3200 + www.lawndalecity.org 

August 3, 2020 

Honorable Mayor and City Council 

Matthew R. Ceballos, Assistant City Clerk 

Motion Pertaining to the Reading of Ordinances 

California Government Code reads, in part, as follows: 

"Except when, after reading the title, further reading is waived by regular motion adopted by 
majority vote, all ordinances shall be read in full either at the time of introduction or passage.'' 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council read by title only and waive fu1iher reading of all ordinances listed 
on the agenda. 

1



2





















































3











MINUTES OF THE 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

July 20, 2020 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Mayor Pullen-Miles called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall council chamber,
14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California.

Councilmembers Present:  Mayor Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor Pro Tem Bernadette Suarez,
Councilmember James H. Osborne, Councilmember Pat Kearney, 
Councilmember Daniel Reid  

Other Participants: City Clerk Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Manager Kevin M. 
Chun, City Attorney Tiffany J. Israel, Los Angeles County 
Sheriff's Department Lieutenant Chris Lio, Community Services 
Director Mike Estes, Assistant to the City Manager/Human 
Resources Director Raylette Felton, Municipal Services Director 
Michael Reyes, Finance Director Marla Pendleton, Community 
Development Director Sean Moore, Assistant City Clerk Matthew 
Ceballos, and Interim Public Works Director Kahono Oei. 

B. CEREMONIALS

Councilmember Mayor Pro Tem Bernadette Suarez led the flag salute.

C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT

Lieutenant Chris Lio summarized recent law enforcement activities.

D. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA

• Randall Abram, Resident, spoke about the fireworks on 4th of July in the City and the increase
in COVID-19 cases in the City.

• Pam London, Resident, had various follow up inquiries pertaining to “Project Roomkey”
hotels. Ms. London also spoke about the number of citations given on 4th of July compared to
the number of calls to the Sheriff’s Department.

COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL 

The City Council and staff responded generally to the comments, but did not request placement of 
any issues on a future meeting agenda. 

E. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. Consideration of a Claim Against the City
Recommendation: that the City Council reject Anne E. McInnis’ claim and instruct staff
to process the appropriate correspondence to the claimant.

4



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
July 20, 2020 
Page 2 
 
 

2. Quarterly Investment Report for the Quarter Ended June 30, 2020 
Recommendation: that the City Council receive and file the Quarterly Investment Report 
for the quarter ended June 30, 2020. 

 
3. Program Supplement Agreement No. U95 for Project Number LRSPL-5360 (015)  

for the Preparation of the Local Road Safety Plan Study 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) adopt Resolution No. CC-2007-041, 
approving Program Supplement Agreement No. U95 for Project Number LRSPL-
5360(015) for the Preparation of the Local Road Safety Plan Study; and (b) authorize the 
City Manager and City Engineer to execute Program Supplement Agreements, other 
documents, certifications, and related approvals for Caltrans administered projects. 

 
4. Accounts Payable Register 

Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2007-039, authorizing 
the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of $858,922.39. 

 
5. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting – July 6, 2020 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 
 
6. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Special Meeting – July 8, 2020 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Bernadette Suarez inquired about agenda item number 3 and the roadway 
safety plan. Interim Public Works Director Kahono Oei responded accordingly. 
 
A motion by Councilmember Kearney to approve the consent calendar was seconded by 
Councilmember Reid and carried by a vote of 5-0. 

 
F. ADMINISTRATION 
 

7. Cancellation of the 8th Annual Lawndale Blues Festival 
Recommendation: that the City Council cancel the 8th Annual Lawndale Blues Festival 
scheduled for September 12, 2020 at Jane Addams Park. 
 

Community Services Director Mike Estes, reported on the proposed cancellation of 8th Annual 
Lawndale Blues Festival scheduled for September 12, 2020 at Jane Addams Park. 
 
Councilmember Osborne inquired if all City events through the end of the year should be 
cancelled and what amount of savings would that provide.  
 
City Manager Kevin M. Chun responded the City has taken a step-by-step approach to cancelling 
the annual community events and he will put an analysis together to update Council on the events 
budget savings. 
 
The Council reached a unanimous consensus to cancel the 8th Annual Lawndale Blues 
Festival scheduled for September 12, 2020 at Jane Addams Park.  
 
 



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
July 20, 2020 
Page 3 
 
 

8. Updated Citywide Records Retention Schedules 
Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2007-040, approving 
and adopting an updated Citywide Records Retention Schedules and Updated City 
Council Policy No.77-04. 
 

Assistant City Clerk Matthew Ceballos reported on the proposed update to the Citywide Records 
Retention Schedules and Updated City Council Policy No.77-04. 

 
A motion by Councilmember Kearney to adopt Resolution No. CC-2007-040, approving 
and adopting an updated Citywide Records Retention Schedules and Updated City Council 
Policy No.77-04 was seconded by Mayo Pro Tem Suarez and carried by a vote of 5-0. 

 
9. Purchase and Sale Agreement for a strip of property at 16525 Prairie Avenue 

Recommendation: that the City Council (a) approve the Purchase and Sale Agreement for 
a strip of property at 16525 Prairie Avenue; (b) authorize the Mayor to execute said 
agreement after all code enforcement violations at 16525 Prairie Avenue have been 
resolved; and (c) authorize staff undertake all actions necessary to complete the 
transaction. 

 
Interim Public Works Director Kahono Oei reported on the proposed Purchase and Sale 
Agreement for a strip of property at 16525 Prairie Avenue. 
 
Councilmember Kearney inquired on the outstanding permits for the repairs done inside and out 
of the property before completing the sale. 
 
Community Development Director Sean Moore responded his department has been working with 
the property owners for a year to complete the permits and the sale will include a restrictive use 
covenant. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles inquired if there’s an opportunity for the City to use the parcel, Community 
Development Director Sean Moore responded he and staff were not able verify why the City 
owned that area of land.  Councilmember Osborne added that he believed the purpose of owning 
the land portion was to possibly expand the 405 freeway during the year 1962 or prior. 
 
A motion by Councilmember Reid to approve the Purchase and Sale Agreement for a strip 
of property at 16525 Prairie Avenue, authorize the Mayor to execute said agreement after 
all code enforcement violations at 16525 Prairie Avenue have been resolved, and authorize 
staff undertake all actions necessary to complete the transaction was seconded by 
Councilmember Kearney and carried by a vote of 5-0. 
 

G. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT  
 
City Manager Kevin Chun provided clarification of a potential one month extension of “Project 
Roomkey” between Los Angeles County and Best Western Plus South Bay Hotel. 
 

H. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 
 

10. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
July 20, 2020 
Page 4 
 
 

 
Councilmember Osborne had nothing to report. 
 
Councilmember Reid attended a meeting with the City’s Central Management Team.  
 
Councilmember Kearney attended a meeting with the City’s Central Management Team and 
inquired if the hotels participating in “Project Roomkey” have requested the transient occupancy 
taxes due to be extended.  Finance Director Marla Pendleton responded they have contacted her 
with the request to have the tax payment extended and she informed them it is due on the due 
date and they would have to come before the Council to request an extension. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Suarez inquired if outdoor dining fees may be waived, Community Development 
Director Sean Moore responded there are no fees associated with temporary outdoor dining 
permits and that his department has been assisting businesses. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles inquired if there’s a possibility for other businesses to work outdoors and 
Community Development Director Sean Moore responded accordingly. Mayor Pullen-Miles 
attended the general Sanitation District of Los Angeles and League of Cities zoom meetings.  
 

I. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Councilmember Osborne recommended adjourning the meeting in memory of Keith Krotzer, a 
Lawndale resident who had recently passed away, he went on to briefly speak about Mr. Krotzer. 
 
There being no further business to conduct, the Mayor adjourned the meeting in memoriam of Keith 
Krotzer at 7:20 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk 
 
Approved: 8/3/2020 
 

 



5











01001.0001/660609.6

CITY OF LAWNDALE 
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260 

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org 

DATE: August 3, 2020 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kevin M. Chun, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Michael Reyes, Municipal Services Director 

SUBJECT: Consideration of Ordinance to Make all violations of the Municipal Code Subject 
to Administrative Citation 

BACKGROUND 

On March 2nd, 2020  the City Council directed staff to move forward with the adoption and 
implementation of an administrative citation process which would provide Municipal Service Officers, 
Sheriff deputies, and properly trained members of the Public Works Department the ability to issue 
administrative citations to residents, property owners, and businesses who violate the City of Lawndale’s 
Municipal Code (Code).  As the draft ordinance to enact this process (attached) is written, Community 
Development Department staff will not be authorized to issue citations for code violations as they are 
involved in the administrative/executive side of Code violation cases, in that they review and approve 
plans and provide information upon which Municipal Service Officers rely for enforcement.   

Without this ordinance, violations of the City’s Code can only be prosecuted as criminal matters, via 
complaints filed in criminal court, when residents, property owners and business owners fail to cure 
violations upon receipt of a Notice of Violation.  When the City determines that there is a violation of 
the City’s Code, the City sends a Notices of Violation, advising the responsible parties of the violation 
and what needs to be done to resolve the violation. If, after two weeks, the violation remains and no 
progress has been made to correct the violation, a second Notice of Violation is sent.  If that violation is 
partially or wholly ignored after two more weeks, the matter is referred to the City Attorney’s office.    

The City Attorney’s office reviews the file and attempts to schedule an office conference with the 
responsible parties and City staff to talk through the violations and options to bring the property into 
compliance.  If the parties fail to agree to a timeline and/or plan to bring the property into compliance at 
the office conference or if the responsible parties fail to comply with that timeline and/or plan after the 
meeting, the City Attorney’s office sends the responsible parties a letter explaining that the ongoing 
violations are criminal violations.  If the violations remain uncured, a second letter is sent from the City 
Attorney’s office.  If the responsible parties continue to fail to address the violations a criminal complaint 
is filed in Superior Court.   

When a case is resolved after a criminal complaint has been filed, the court often levies fines, penalties, 
and assessments against the responsible parties.  The City’s adopted fine schedule ranges from $100 to 
$1,000, depending on the number of violations and whether the crime is an infraction or misdemeanor. 

6



01001.0001/660609.6 2 

The City typically receives only a small portion of each fine paid in connection with a criminal case. 
The balance of the fine and all of the penalties and assessments are payable to the court, the State and 
other public agencies. 

In contrast, fines paid in connection with an administrative citation are paid to the City with the full 
amount retained by the City. Staff will need direction from the City Council regarding the fine amounts 
the City Council would like to set  for administrative citations to allow staff to prepare a fine schedule 
to bring back for City Council consideration.  Proposed fines will be brought to council for consideration 
at a future meeting.  

STAFF REVIEW 

As an alternative to this lengthy and expensive criminal code process, the City Council unanimously 
directed staff to prepare an ordinance to provide staff with the additional tool of issuing administrative 
citations.  The hope is that a majority of the Code violations cited by the City can be resolved through 
the administrative process.  To implement the City Council’s direction, language needs to be put into the 
Lawndale Municipal Code authorizing the issuance of administrative citations for Code violations.  The 
attached ordinance adds a new Chapter 1.11 to the City Code to authorize and establish the procedures 
for the issuance of administrative citations. 

Once the staff has the ability to issue administrative citations, the general code enforcement process will 
be as follows:  A violation such as an inoperable vehicle or overgrown vegetation will be met with an 
inspection and Notice of Violation, followed by a second Notice of Violation two weeks later if not 
corrected. Upon the responsible party’s failure to comply with the second Notice of Violation, an 
administrative citation would be issued, followed by a second and third citation, with each citation being 
issued two weeks apart.  After the third citation has been issued and compliance has still not been 
achieved, the case would then be turned over to the City Attorney’s office to initiate their notice and 
office conference protocol, as outlined above, including criminal prosecution, if necessary.    Meanwhile, 
when the responsible party fails to pay the applicable administrative citation fine and any interest owed, 
a lien can be recorded against the property or the responsible party. 

When a violation relates to illegal construction, a process similar to that described above will be followed 
in that, where the violations remain, staff will issue up to two Notices of Violations, followed by the 
issuance of an administrative citation.   

A responsible party who objects to the receipt of an administrative citation has an appeal right.  The 
process and how to avail yourself of the process will be explained on each administrative citation. For 
an appeal of any code violation other than a violation of building and/or safety codes, the appeal will be 
considered by a hearing officer at Data Ticket, the contractor currently used by the City to administer 
parking ticket payments and appeals.  The appeal of a violation of a building and/or safety code will be 
considered by a new 3 member appeals board.  Once a decision is rendered by the appeals board, the 
losing party may appeal the decision by filing a writ in Superior Court. 

If the appeal board rescinds an administrative citation but the violations remain, the City has several 
options beyond filing a writ, as mentioned above.  The City Council may consider whether to: (i) seek a 
court order to allow the City to abate the violation(s), (ii) seek the appointment of a receiver to repair the 
violations, (iii) issue a criminal citation, (iv) negotiate an agreement with the responsible parties, or (v) 
take no further action. 



01001.0001/660609.6 3 

Some direction is also needed from the City Council to finalize the ordinance.  As currently written, 
proposed Code  Section 1.11.080 authorizes the City to charge penalties for late payments. Whether to 
charge penalties is a policy question for the City Council. The City Council can elect to not charge 
penalities for late payments, charge a flat late fee, or as presented in the ordinance, to charge a late fee 
that is a percentage of the total fine plus any assessed penalties.  The presented penalties are appropriate 
and consistent with the City’s current conservative fine schedule that mirrors the assessment and 
escalation of fines as criminal infractions ($100, $200, $500 for a 1st, 2nd, and 3rd or more violation, 
respectively).  However, the decision of how to assess late fees, if any, also depends on how aggressive 
the City will be with enforcement. For example, if the City plans on enforcing late penalties every day 
at an escalating rate,  that accrual can result a large fine. In such a case, a flat fee may be more appropriate.  
Accordingly, as written in the draft ordinance, the maximum late fee (which is 100% of the original fine) 
would be reached at 6 months after the original due date.   

As mentioned above, if someone who owns real property in the City fails to pay an administrative 
citation, the City’s remedy is to record a lien against that property. If the party cited does not own 
property in the City, the City can send the unpaid fines to collections. 

LEGAL REVIEW 

The City Attorney’s office has reviewed the attached Ordinance and has approved it as to form. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There will be minimal costs associated with the implementation of this program, and these costs were 
approved at the March 2nd, 2020 City Council meeting.  Moreover, staff hopes to decrease attorneys’ 
fees spent on criminal citations and to receive a small increase in fines and interest received from 
administrative citations.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council approve the first reading to introduce Ordinance 1174-20 to add 
a new chapter 1.11 to the Lawndale Municipal Code which will make all violations of the Municipal 
Code subject to administrative citation, with direction given on how interest (not to exceed 100% of the 
original fine) should be given: 

(i) do not charge penalities for late payments,
(ii) charge a flat late fee, or as presented in the ordinance, or
(iii) charge a late fee that is a percentage of the total fine plus any assessed penalties.

Attachment: Ordinance 1174-20 



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

1 

ORDINANCE NO. 1174-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA ADDING CHAPTER 1.11 
TO THE LAWNDALE MUNICIPAL CODE 
ESTABLISHING AN ALTERNATE PROCEDURE FOR 
CODE ENFORCEMENT COMPLIANCE  

 
 

SUMMARY:  This ordinance will provide an alternate procedure for code 
enforcement compliance through administrative citations for certain types of 
violations. 

WHEREAS, Government Code section 53069.4 authorizes a city to make any violation 
of any ordinance enacted by the city subject to an administrative fine or penalty, and to set forth, 
by ordinance, administrative procedures for the imposition, enforcement, collection, and 
administrative review of those administrative fines or penalties; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to amend the Lawndale Municipal Code to 

establish procedures for the issuance of administrative citations for certain quality of life 
violations of the Lawndale Municipal Code.  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, 
CALIFORNIA, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. The City Council of the City of Lawndale finds that the above recitals are 
true and correct and incorporated herein by this reference.  
 
 SECTION 2. A new chapter 1.11 entitled “Administrative Citations” is hereby added to 
Title 1 “General Provisions” of the Lawndale Municipal Code to read, in its entirety, as follows:  
 

“Chapter 1.11 ADMINISTRATIVE CITATIONS 
 
1.11.010 – Definitions.   
1.11.020 – Code enforcement authority.  
1.11.030 – Administrative citations.  
1.11.040 – Fines and penalties.  
1.11.050 – Request for administrative citation appeals hearing.  
1.11.060 – Procedures for administrative appeals hearings.  
1.11.070 – Written decision on administrative appeals hearings.  
1.11.080 – Late payment charges and collection of administrative fines and costs; lien procedure.  
1.11.090 – Right to judicial review.  
 
 
 
 



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

2 

1.11.010 Definitions.  
 
The following definitions shall govern construction of this Chapter, unless the context clearly 
requires otherwise:  
 

A. “Administrative citation” means the written notice provided to a responsible party that a 
violation of the Code has occurred, and is subject to assessment of a civil fine as issued 
by a Code Enforcement Officer as described herein. 
  

B. “Code” means the Lawndale Municipal Code, any City ordinance, and any code adopted 
by reference.  
 

C. “Code Enforcement Officer” means the enforcement personnel identified in Section 
8.28.190, and any other officer designated by the director of municipal services. Unless 
otherwise authorized by the Code or California law, a Code Enforcement Officer shall 
have the power to issue an administrative citation as provided in this Chapter, but shall 
not have the power to arrest. 
 

D. “Hearing Officer” means the impartial person appointed by the City Manager to preside 
over administrative citation appeal hearings under this Chapter.  A Hearing Officer shall 
not be an employee of the City and shall have no financial interest in the outcome of any 
matter over which they may preside. 
 

E. “Legal interest” means any ownership interest of any person as hereafter defined in real 
or personal property as evidenced by title or ownership documents or instruments 
recorded with the Los Angeles County Recorder's Office or on file with, or in possession 
of, any other governmental entity. "Legal interest" shall also include the property interest 
of lessees or tenants of real property, as well as all sublessors thereof. 
 

F. “Responsible party” means the person who a city official reasonably believes is causing, 
performing, or permitting to exist or otherwise maintaining a public nuisance, or any 
other suspected or actual violation of the code, and includes the owner of the real 
property involved, any person with a legal interest in the property, and any tenant, 
occupant, or user thereof, or any other person in real or apparent charge or control of said 
real property. 

 
1.11.020 Code enforcement authority.  
 

A. This Chapter provides for an administrative remedy for violations of the Code that: (1) 
are transitory or immediately remediable including, without limitation, violations 
involving inoperable vehicles, overgrown vegetation, and junk, trash and debris; (2) 
pertain to business taxes, licenses and regulations set forth in Title 5 of this Code; or (3) 
create an immediate danger to public health or safety.  This remedy may be exercised in 
place of, or in addition to, any other:  administrative, criminal, civil, or equitable remedy, 
allowed by law.  The City Prosecutor shall have sole discretion to determine whether a 
violation will be prosecuted criminally.   



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

3 

B. Code Enforcement Officers are vested with the authority to gain compliance with the 
provisions of the Code. These powers include, but are not limited to, the power to use all 
judicial and administrative remedies available, including issuance of administrative 
citations.  
 

C. Any notice required under this Chapter shall be served in the manner set forth in Section 
2.12.070.   
 
1. If the responsible party is not the owner of the property where the alleged 

violation of the Code occurred, written notice shall be served in the manner set 
forth in Section 2.12.070, and personally delivered or sent by United States mail 
to the property owner at the last known business or residence address as the same 
appears in the public records of the City or other records pertaining to the matter 
to which such notice is directed.   
 

2. When personal service or service by United States mail upon any responsible 
party is unsuccessful, a copy of the notice shall be posted in a conspicuous place 
on the property where the alleged violation of the Code occurred.  
 

3. Notice will be effective on the date of mailing. The failure of any responsible 
party to receive any notice served in accordance with this Section shall not affect 
the validity of any proceedings taken under the Code.  
 

D. The remedies provided by this Chapter are in addition to all other legal remedies, 
criminal or civil, which may be pursued by the City to address any violation of the Code. 
The use of administrative citations shall be at the sole discretion of the City.  

 
1.11.030 Administrative citations.  
 

A. Whenever a Code Enforcement Officer determines that a violation of the Code has 
occurred, the Code Enforcement Officer may issue an administrative citation to each and 
any responsible party.  
  

B. To the extent the following information is reasonably available to the Code Enforcement 
Officer, the administrative citation shall include:  
 
1. The date and location of the violation, and the approximate time the violation 

occurred;  
 

2. The section of the Code violated, and a description of how the section was 
violated;  
 

3. The amount of the fine assessed for the Code violation and a description of the 
fine payment process;  
 



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

4 

4. An order to correct the Code violation described in the administrative citation, if 
applicable; and 
 

5. A description of the administrative citation appeals hearing procedure, the appeal 
period, and the place from which to obtain an appeal form.  
 

C. Upon service of an administrative citation, the responsible party shall pay the fine no 
later than twenty (20) days from the date of service of the administrative citation.  
Payment of the fine shall not excuse or discharge the failure to correct the violation, nor 
shall it bar further enforcement action by the City.   

 
1.11.040 Fines and penalties.  
 

A. The amount of the fine associated with the administrative citation shall be assessed 
according to a schedule of fines adopted by the City Council. The schedule of fines may 
include escalating fine amounts for repeat violations occurring within specified periods of 
time, and fines may vary depending on the particular Code section violated. Each 
responsible party shall be guilty of a separate offense for each and every day during 
which a violation of any section of the Code or condition of approval is committed, 
continued or permitted by such responsible party. 
 

B. For purposes of establishing the maximum fine amount under Government Code section 
53069.4, all violations forming the basis of an administrative citation issued under this 
Chapter would otherwise be a misdemeanor. 
 

C. The fine shall be paid to the City within twenty (20) days from the date of service of the 
administrative citation. Any person who fails to pay any fine imposed by the City shall 
also be liable for the payment of any applicable late payment charges set forth in the 
schedule of fines.  
  

D. Fine payment does not extinguish the duty to correct the violation nor does fine payment 
bar further enforcement action by the City.  
 

E. If the violation is not abated, additional, subsequent administrative citations may be 
issued for the same violation. Fines will accrue until the violation is properly abated to 
the satisfaction of the City. The amount of the fine for failure to correct the violation will 
increase at the rate established by the City Council.  
 

F. A responsible party who fails to pay any fine or other charge owed to the City under this 
Chapter is liable in an action brought by the City for all costs incurred in securing 
payment of the delinquent amount, including, but not limited to, administrative costs and 
attorneys' fees incurred by the City. Such collection costs are in addition to any fines and 
late charges accrued. 

 
1.11.050 Request for administrative citation appeals hearing.  
 



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

5 

A. The fine associated with any administrative citation must be paid within twenty (20) days 
from the date of service of the administrative citation, and is not deferred if an 
administrative citation appeals hearing is requested pursuant to this Section.  
 

B. An appeal of an administrative citation must be filed within twenty (20) days from the 
date of service of the administrative citation in the City Clerk's Office. The appeal must 
set forth fully the grounds upon which the appeal is based. The administrative citation 
shall be final unless appealed in accordance with this Section.  
  

C. The City Manager, or a duly authorized designee, is authorized to develop and implement 
policies and procedures relating to the qualifications, appointment, and compensation of 
Hearing Officers and all other matters relating to conducting administrative citation 
appeals hearings as provided in the Code.  
 

D. Any person designated to serve as a Hearing Officer is subject to disqualification for bias, 
prejudice, interest, or for other reason or which a judge may be disqualified in a court of 
law. Disqualification of a Hearing Officer shall be based upon a showing of actual bias, 
prejudice, interest, or other reason.  

 
1.11.060 Procedures for administrative citation appeals hearings.  
 

A. A requested appeal shall be heard before a Hearing Officer within thirty (30) days of the 
City's receipt of the appeal, unless both the City and party requesting the hearing 
("Appellant") agree to a later date.  
 

B. The Hearing Officer shall conduct the appeal hearing in an informal manner and the 
formal rules of evidence and discovery shall not apply. The Hearing Officer shall 
consider only evidence relevant to whether a violation of the Code occurred and whether 
the Appellant caused or maintained the violation of the Code on the date(s) specified.  No 
authority to issue a subpoena is provided by this section. 
 

C. Neither the Code Enforcement Officer nor any other City staff shall be required to attend 
the hearing, but may do so in their sole discretion. The administrative citation and any 
additional report submitted by the City shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
respective facts contained in those documents. If the Appellant presents evidence to the 
contrary, the burden of proof shall shift to the City to support the issuance and basis of 
the administrative citation. 
 

D. A preponderance of the evidence shall be the standard of proof used by the Hearing 
Officer in deciding the issues at an administrative citation appeals hearing.  
 

E. A continuance of the hearing may be granted for good cause, or to request additional 
information from a Code Enforcement Officer or Appellant, prior to issuing a written 
decision. Failure to appear by the Appellant constitutes a forfeiture of the right to contest 
the fine, as well as a failure to exhaust administrative remedies.  
 



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

6 

1.11.070 Written decision on administrative appeals hearings.  
 

A. Within ten (10) days following the administrative citation appeals hearing, the Hearing 
Officer shall issue a written decision to uphold or cancel the administrative citation and 
shall explain the reason for the decision based on all of the testimony and evidence 
submitted at the hearing. The written decision shall also include information on the right 
of the Appellant to judicial review. 
  

B. The Appellant shall be served with a copy of the Hearing Officer’s written decision, 
which shall be served in the same manner as set forth in Section 2.12.070.   
 

C. If the Hearing Officer determines that the administrative citation should be upheld, the 
fine associated with the administrative citation shall be retained by the City. If the 
Hearing Officer determines that the administrative citation should be canceled, the City 
shall promptly refund the amount of the deposited fine, together with any late fees paid 
for the period of time the fine was held by the City.  
 

D. Administrative costs incurred in connection with any violation found to exist, or for any 
violation which was not timely corrected, shall be assessed against the Appellant. The 
administrative costs shall include any and all costs incurred by the City in connection 
with prosecuting the violation, including, but not limited to, investigation costs, staffing 
costs for preparing and conducting the administrative hearing, costs for all inspections 
necessary to enforce compliance, and attorneys’ fees incurred therewith. The decision 
shall specify the date by which the costs must be paid to the City.  

 
1.11.080 Late payment charges and collection of administrative fines and costs; lien procedure.  
 

A. Late payment charges. Any person who fails to pay to the City on or before the due date 
any fine imposed pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter shall be liable for the 
payment of late payment charges as follows: 
 
1. For payments received within thirty (30) days after the due date, a late fee in the 

amount of fifty percent (50%) of the fine due.  
 

2. For payments received more than thirty (30) days after the due date, a late fee in 
the amount of fifty percent (50%) of the fine due, plus an additional ten percent 
(10%) of the overdue fine for each month the payment is overdue. The maximum 
late fee shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the overdue fine.  

  
B. Collection of fines and costs; lien procedure.   

 
1. If the responsible party fails to satisfy in full the assessed fines and costs by the 

time specified in the appeal hearing decision or the administrative citation, and no 
timely appeal of the appeal hearing decision has been filed with the Los Angeles 
Superior Court, the City may recover the outstanding fines and costs by imposing 



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

7 

a lien against the real property on which the violation occurred, as provided by 
law. 
 

2. Prior to the recording of the lien with the Los Angeles County Recorder's Office, 
the City Council shall conduct a hearing to hear any protest or objection to the 
lien. The City shall serve notice of the hearing upon the owner of record of the 
real property, based on the last equalized assessment roll or the supplemental roll, 
whichever is more current. The notice of hearing shall include the time, date, and 
place of the hearing, and shall be served upon the owner of record by regular mail 
in accordance with Section 2.12.070 at least ten (10) days before the date of the 
hearing.  
 

3. If the City Council determines that the lien should be imposed, the responsible 
party shall have forty-five (45) days to satisfy the assessed fines and costs in full. 
If after that time the assessed fines and costs are not paid in full, a Code 
Enforcement Officer shall prepare and file with the City Clerk a report stating the 
amount due and owing, which shall include all costs set forth in Section 
1.11.070(D). 
 

4. After the report is filed with the City Clerk, the City may cause the lien to be 
recorded with the Los Angeles County Recorder’s Office. Once recorded, the lien 
shall have the force and effect and priority of a judgment lien governed by the 
provisions of Section 697.340 of the Code of Civil Procedure, or its successor, 
and may be extended as provided in Sections 683.110 to 683.220, inclusive, of the 
Code of Civil Procedure, or their successors. 
 

5. The remedies set forth in this Section are not exclusive and may be used in 
addition to those set forth elsewhere in the Code or by law. The City may collect 
any past due fines and costs by use of any available legal means.  
 

1.11.090 Right to judicial review.  
 

A. The Appellant may seek review of the decision by filing a notice of appeal with the Los 
Angeles Superior Court and serving the City Clerk with the notice of the appeal in 
accordance with Government Code Section 53069.4. If the Appellant fails to timely file a 
notice of appeal, the Hearing Officer’s decision shall be deemed final.” 

  
 SECTION 3. Adoption of this ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental 
Quality Act (“CEQA”) under Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines, which provides that 
CEQA only applies to projects that have the potential for causing a significant effect on the 
environment. It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that adoption of this 
ordinance, amending existing sections to the City’s municipal Code to clarify the intent, will 
have a significant effect on the environment. Therefore, adoption of this ordinance is not subject 
to CEQA. 
 



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

8 

SECTION 4. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance is 
for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of any court of any competent 
jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this 
ordinance. The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed this ordinance, and each 
and every section, subsection, sentence, clause and phrase thereof not declared invalid or 
unconstitutional without regard to whether any portion of the ordinance would be subsequently 
declared invalid or unconstitutional. 

 SECTION 5. The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this ordinance, 
and shall make a minute of the passage and adoption thereof in the records of and the 
proceedings of the City Council at which the same is passed and adopted. This ordinance shall be 
in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its final passage and adoption, and within fifteen 
(15) days after its final passage, the City Clerk shall cause it to be posted and published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the manner required by law. 

 PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this ____ day of ____, 2020. 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
State of California  ) 
County of Los Angeles ) SS 
City of Lawndale  ) 
 
I, Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk of the City of Lawndale, California, do hereby certify 
that the City Council duly introduced the foregoing Ordinance No. 1174-20 at its regular meeting 
held on the 3rd day of August, 2020, and duly approved and adopted said ordinance at its regular 
meeting held on the ___ day of _____, 2020, by the following roll call vote: 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor       
Bernadette Suarez, Mayor Pro Tem      
James H. Osborne       
Pat Kearny      
Daniel Reid      

 
 
______________________________    ______________ 
Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, City Clerk    Date 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 



Ordinance No. 1174-20 
Adding LMC Chapter 1.11 
Administrative Citations 

9 

 
______________________________ 
Tiffany J. Israel, City Attorney 
 



7



8



9


	20-08-03 reg.agn
	01. Reading of Ordinance
	02. Transfer Agreement (LACFCD)
	03. Warrants
	04. 20-07-20 reg.min
	05. League of CA Cities Annual Conference
	06. Ord. 1174-20 Adding LMC Sec. 1.11 Administrative Citations
	07. Mayor City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and or Events
	08. CS-Lit

	Button1: 


